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machine gun. The defendant’s friends told him the gun was to be used
for a bank job or something else to get money.*® After the defendant
gave the machine gun to his friends, they used the weapon in a bank
robbery. The two friends were convicted of the robbery,*® and the
defendant was convicted of conspiring with his friends to rob the bank.
The defendant argued that he did not have the specific intent to rob the
bank because his friends had told him that the gun would be used for the
bank or for something else. The defendant must have swayed the jury
with the argument, because after deliberating the case the jury sent the
judge the following note: “Does the supplying or renting of a gun which
is subsequently used in a bank robbery, constitute grounds for a conspir-
acy if the person who rents the gun doesn’t know how or where the gun
will be used?”*? " The judge then responded with the charge:

. . [T]hat it isn’t necessary for the Government to prove that the
one who rented the gun knew precisely what was intended or all
the objectives of the conspiracy, or how the gun was to be used.
But if you find that the defendant rented the gun and understood
and knew that there was a conspiracy to do something wrong and
to use the gun to violate the law, you may find that he willfully
entered the conspiracy.*®

The above exchange bothered the court of appeals. After receiv-

ing the response to the note, the jury may have believed that the
defendant could be guilty of a conspiracy to rob the bank as long as he
“knew in a general way that a machine gun was to be used to ‘pull
something’.”*®* The judge’s answer created this problem by informing
the jury that they could convict the defendant of conspiracy to rob the
bank if, at the time he gave his friend the gun, he knew “that there was
a conspiracy to do something wrong and to use the gun to violate the
law.” The court of appeals reversed the conviction on the conspiracy
count finding that at a minimum the Government had to prove that the
defendant knew the gun was to be used in a bank robbery.®® The
reasoning of the court was sound: although the law may hold a defend-
ant who joins a conspiracy responsible for acts of conspirators whom he
did not know, his culpability for these acts or the acts of known conspir-
ators arises only when the acts are known to him and intended by him.*!

45. Id. at 761.

46. 18 US.C. § 2113(a), (d) (1970).

47. 428 F.2d at 762.

48. Id.

49. Id.

50. Quoting Ingram v. United States, 360 U.S. 672, 678 (1959), the court noted:
{Clonspiracy to commit a particular substantive offense cannot exist without at least
the degree of criminal intent necessary for the substantive offense itself.

On this record, to convict Gallishaw for the substantive crime of aiding and
abetting . . . the Government would have had to show at a minimum that he knew
that a bank was to be robbed. To convict him of conspiracy, at the very least no
less was required. 428 F.2d at 763.

51. ‘This conspiracy situation is distinguishable from the situation in Pinkerton. The



638 LAW FORUM [Vol. 1976

Without such knowledge the conspirator could not possess the required
intent that the ultimate crime be committed. Although the defendant in
Gallishaw clearly knew that the gun was to be used in an illegal
operation, he could not be guilty of conspiring to rob the bank unless he
knew and intended that the object of the combination was the bank
robbery and not “something else.”

In many conspiracy prosecutions the only proof of a person’s
involvement with a conspiracy is that on one occasion he promoted the
goals of a large conspiracy. In this situation the accused’s single act
must demonstrate beyond a reasonable doubt that he intended to join
the larger conspiracy. The state argues that the defendant’s participa-
tion in the single wrongful activity is sufficient evidence of his intent to
promote the goals of the conspiracy beyond that one occasion. Courts
faced with prosecutions utilizing this line of argument often have sent
the issue to the jurors to determine whether they can infer from the
single act the requisite intent to join the larger conspiracy. The diffi-
culty with this approach is that the jury often finds, from the single
transaction, not only the defendant’s intent to join the larger agreement,
but also the intent to foster the broad goals of that agreement. This
finding, however, is made on the basis of a single act, and although the
act is criminal in itself, it offers little evidence as to the state of mind of
the defendant in relation to the other defendants and the larger con-
spiracy.

Recently some courts have become reluctant to sustain convictions
in these single-act cases. Although the courts recognize that in many
cases prosecutors can convict true conspirators only through such evi-
dence, the courts are genuinely and justifiably reluctant to allow convic-
tions in the one transaction situation to stand. In United States v.
Sperling®? the defendant, Garcia, violated the narcotics laws on a single
occasion by delivering illegal drugs to a member of a larger ongoing
conspiracy. Garcia argued that “there was insufficient evidence from
which the jury could have concluded that [he was] aware that the scope
of the conspiracy was larger than [his] participation. . . .”%® Noting
that the delivery of cocaine, by itself, on one occasion, was “not the kind
of single transaction which itself supports an inference of knowledge of
a broader conspiracy on the part of [Garcia],”** the court recognized
the possibility that some single acts might be sufficient evidence of
participation in a conspiracy.

For a single act to be sufficient to draw an actor within the ambit
of a conspiracy to violate the federal narcotics laws, there must be

Pinkerton Court held that one could be liable for substantive crimes if the crimes were
commiitted in furtherance of the agreement as understood by the parties and if the crimes
were reasonably foreseeable to the parties,

52. 506 F.2d 1323 (2d Cir. 1974).

53. Id. at 1342,

54. Id.
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independent evidence tending to prove that the defendant in ques-
tion had some knowledge of the broader conspiracy, or the single
act itself must be one from which such knowledge may be in-
ferred.®®
The type of single act that the court in Sperling said could be the
basis for the necessary inference is not entirely clear. If the delivery of
cocaine is not a sufficient act for the inference, what is?°¢ The drug is
illegal, and anyone buying or selling cocaine must know that there are
importers, wholesalers, retailers, and others. The purchaser or peddler
of cocaine is aiding the larger conspiracy. If the delivery of cocaine is
inadequate evidence after Sperling, situations in which a single act
would be sufficient proof to tie the actor to the larger conspiracy are
difficult to imagine.®” This result, however, is proper. The single act
may show understanding of criminal conduct and may even show
awareness of a larger conspiracy, but it does not—absent unusual
circumstances—show the requisite intent. One transaction does not
show the defendant intended to become a part of the larger conspiracy
and to pursue goals other than the one pursued on the single occasion.

B. Providing Lawful Services or Goods as Proof of Intent

To convict a defendant of conspiracy the state must show that the
defendant knew of the illegal joint enterprise and intended to join and
promote that activity. If the defendant, having knowledge of the con-
spiracy, is shown only to have supplied the enterprise with lawful
products or services, will a conspiracy conviction stand? Learned
Hand’s answer was no. The Supreme Court’s answer, however, is less
certain.

In United States v. Falcone®® a large number of defendants were
convicted of conspiring to operate illicit stills in violation of federal
revenue laws. The evidence against the defendant, Falcone, was that he
sold tremendous quantities of sugar to grocers in New York. The
evidence also indicated, according to Judge Hand, that the sugar was
being utilized for the stills and that Falcone was on “notice that his
customers were supplying the distillers.”®® The sale of the sugar was
lawful. Nevertheless, the Government charged Falcone with conspiracy
on the theory that he not only knew of the existence of the conspiracy

55. Id.

56. The delivery of drugs on a single occaston consistently has been held to be, by
itself, insufficient to constitute proof of involvement with the larger conspiracy. See
United States v. Aviles, 274 F.2d 179, 189-90 (2d Cir. 1960); United States v. Koch, 113
F.2d 982, 983 (2d Cir. 1940). See also, United States v. Torres, 503 F.2d 1120 (2d Cir.
1974). |

57. Absent proof as to either a more involved relationship or prior dealings apart
from the conspiracy.

58. 109 F.2d 579 (2d Cir. 1940).

59, Id, at 580.
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and was aiding it, but he also fully intended to participate because he
profited from his association with the conspiracy. Although Judge
Hand conceded Falcone’s knowledge of the illegal use of the sugar, he
rejected the Government’s argument. Judge Hand recognized that
criminal liability may result simply because an actor fails to forbear
from activity that ultimately aids wrongful conduct. He emphasized,
however, that in conspiracy cases the accused’s
[Alttitude towards the forbidden undertaking must be more posi-
tive. It is not enough that he does not forego a normally Iawful
activity, of the fruits of which he knows that others will make an
unlawful use; he must in some sense promote their venture himself,
make it his own, have a stake in the outcome.®°
Judge Hand believed the distinction was vital because of the tendency of
many prosecutors to bring within the ambit of the conspiracy law all
those associated to any degree with the principal participants. He noted
that the “opportunities of great oppression in such a doctrine is [sic]
very plain, and it is only by circumscribing the scope of such all
comprehensive indictments that they can be avoided.”¢*

The convictions of Falcone and his co-defendants were reversed
because the knowledge, actual aid, and profit were not enough to
demonstrate “a purpose to do what the law in fact forbade.”®* When
the case went to the Supreme Court,*® Justice Stone, for a unanimous
Court, dealt differently with the key issue of intent. The Court disre-
garded the Government’s argument that knowledge and aid of the
conspiracy was the equivalent of membership in the combination. The
Court simply believed that the Government had not established suffi-
ciently Falcone’s participation in the conspiracy. The Government’s
evidence, at the most, showed that the defendant knew the sugar was
used for illicit distilling, and not that he knew of the conspiracy.’® This
conclusion is questionable. The Government did show that Falcone
knew his sugar was being sold to distributors who then supplied the
illicit distillers. Falcone also knew that the distilling process was illegal.

60. Id. at 581,
61. .
62. Id. at 582.

63. 311 U.S. 205 (1940).

64. The argument, the merits of which we do not consider, overlooks the fact
that the opinion below proceeded on the assumption that the evidence showed only
that respondents or some of them knew that the materials sold would be used in
the distillation of illicit spirits, and fell short of showing respondents’ participation
in the conspiracy or that they knew of it. We did not bring the case here to re-
view the evidence, but we are satisfied that the evidence on which the Government
relies does not do more than show knowledge by respondents that the materials
would be used for illicit distilling if it does as much in the case of some.

Id. at 208 (footnote omitted). Interestingly enough, on review before the Supreme
Court the Government shifted its argument and stated that in addition to Falcone being a
member of a conspiracy, the fact of aid and knowledge constituted aiding and abetting
and thus made him a principal in the conspiracy. The Court rejected this, utilizing the
same analysis as the conspiracy argument. Id.
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With this evidence in the record what more could the Government
possibly prove? The evidence conclusively established that Falcone
knew of an illegal venture involving two or more parties, and this
knowledge meant, by definition, that he knew of the existence of the
conspiracy. The Government had a persuasive argument, but the Court
did not accept the argument until 3 years later.

In Direct Sales Co. v. United States®® the Supreme Court was
receptive to the Government’s contention that knowledge of the illegal
acts plus aid equals participation in the conspiracy. The defendant was
a corporation convicted of conspiring to violate the federal narcotics
law. The corporation was a registered drug manufacturer and whole-
saler conducting a nationwide mail order business from Buffalo, New
York. Dr. Tate, who practiced in a South Carolina community of
2,000 persons, purchased drugs from Direct Sales. The Government
established that Dr. Tate illegally distributed morphine while he was
purchasing drugs from the corporation. The evidence not only indicat-
ed the huge quantity of drugs Dr. Tate ordered, but also Direct Sales’
knowledge of the use of the drugs. The average doctor at that time
would have used about 400 one-quarter grain morphine sulphate tablets
per year. In one period Dr. Tate’s orders from Direct Sales averaged
“5,000 to 6,000 half-grain tablets a month, enough, as the Government
points out to enable him to give 400 average doses every day.”*®

Officers of Direct Sales knew all these facts. Indeed the Bureau of
Narcotics warned the defendant during this period that “it was being
used as a source of supply by convicted physicians.”®” Direct Sales,
however, continued to supply Dr. Tate, and more importantly, contin-
ued to encourage large orders of drugs through a discount purchase
arrangement. The Government tried the case on the theory that Direct
Sales “and Tate conspired together to subvert the [Narcotics] Act.”®®
Direct Sales countered strenuously that their case was analogous to
Falcone. They knew that the purchaser was using their goods illegally
but the sale was lawful, even if the doctor purchased abnormally large
guantities.®®

On the surface the defendant’s argument was appealing because
the facts were strikingly similar to Falcone. The Court, however, was
more concerned with the dissimilarities. In Falcone the goods supplied
were “articles of free commerce. . .not restricted as to sale. . . .”"* In
Direct Sales, however, the drugs were “incapable of further legal use
except by compliance with rigid regulations. . . .”"* The Court found

65. 319 U.S. 703 (1943).
66. Id. at 706.

67. 1Id. at 707.

68. Id. at 708.

69. Id.

70. Id. at 710.

71. Id.
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this dissimilarity crucial for two reasons. First, the restrictive nature of
the drugs made certain the seller’s knowledge of the buyer’s intended
illegal use of the drugs. Second, this restrictive quality of the drugs
indicated that by selling the drugs the defendant intended “to further,
promote and cooperate in [the distribution of the drugs].”’* The
Court concluded that, if the defendant was distributing excessive
amounts of restricted goods, the jury was justified in inferring Direct
Sales’ “unlawful intent to further the buyer’s project.””® The evidence
of the Government’s extensive control over the distribution of morphine
coupled with the defendant’s willingness to supply Dr. Tate’s large
orders of the drug convinced the Court that the defendant fully intended
to assist the doctor in his illegal activity. The evidence indicated not
only Direct Sales’ “fully informed and interested cooperation” with Dr.
Tate, but also the petitioner’s “ ‘stake in venture’ which, even if it may
not be essential, is not irrelevant to the question of conspiracy.”’*

The views expressed in Direct Sales and Falcone raise fundamental
questions about the state-of-mind requirement for the crime of conspira-
cy. The Supreme Court, however, has not reconsidered its position on
inferring intent from knowledge plus material support. If the state-of-
mind requirement is intent or purpose to commit the object crime, then
the fundamental question is why was intent found in Direct Sales. The
petitioner in Direct Sales conceded that it knew of the illegal distribution
system, but it only intended to conduct a lawful and profitable business.
Moreover, if the intent could be inferred in Direct Sales, why could it
not be inferred in Falcone? Surely Falcone knew that illegal actions
were occurring involving the joint activity of two or more persons. The
fact that the goods were lawful and in an unrestricted form should not
have any bearing on the supplier’s state of mind, and the defendant’s
state of mind was the only significant issue in both Direct Sales and
Falcone. Finally, if Direct Sales means that knowledge and actual
support can equal conspiracy, does the grocer who sells food to conspir-
ing bank robbers (with knowledge of their plans) become a conspira-

72, Id. at711.
73. Id. at 715.
74. Id. at 713 (footnote deleted). The Court in reaching its holding in Direct

Sales sought to distinguish Falcone above and beyond simply referring to the nature of
the goods involved.

[Falcone] comes down merely to this, that one does not become a party to a con-
spiracy by aiding and abetting it, through sales of supplies or otherwise, unless he
knows of the conspiracy; and the inference of such knowledge cannot be drawn
merely from knowledge the buyer will use the goods illegally. The government
did not contend, in those circumstances, as the opinion points out, that there was a
conspiracy between the buyer and seller alone. It conceded that on the evidence
neither the act of supplying itself nor the other proof was of such character as
imported an agreement or concert of action between the buyer and seller amounting
to conspiracy. This was true, notwithstanding some of the respondents could be
taken to know their customers would use the purchased goods in illegal distillation.
Id. at 709.
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tor? Is the knowledgeable car mechanic who tunes the auto of an
armed robber a member of a criminal combination?

The Supreme Couit has refrained from resolving these questions,
but one California court has attempted to determine who can be charged
as a conspirator in an arrangement similar to the situation in Falcone.
Although most prosecutors will avoid charging a conspiracy when con-
fronting facts similar to Falcone, the court in California v. Lauria™
reversed a conspiracy conviction of an owner of a telephone answering
service. The defendant undoubtedly knew that his service was being
used by prostitutes to continue their trade because he had personally
used the services of at least one of the prostitutes. The state, however,
offered no proof of an agreement between the defendant and the prosti-
tutes, but sought to preserve the conspiracy conviction of Lauria by
contending that his “knowledge alone of the continuing use of his
telephone facilities for criminal purposes provided a sufficient basis
from which his intent to participate in those criminal activities could be
inferred.”?®

- Lauria countered that he was like Falcone who provided a legiti-
mate service with knowledge of its illegal use. The court responded to
the defendant’s argument with its explanation of the Supreme Court’s
Direct Sales opinion. The court believed that intent can be inferred
when one of three conditions are present. First, when the provider of
legitimate goods for illegal purposes has acquired a stake in the venture,
the factfinder may infer the purveyor’s intent. Second, the court may
infer intent if the provided goods or service has no lawful use. Finally,
sufficient evidence of the buyer’s intent is present “when the volume of
business . . . is disproportionate to any legitimate demand. . . .”"7 If
these conditions are considered in light of the facts in Lauria, the
conviction appears proper. Lauria knew of the illegal trade, and he also
knew that the volume of business was beyond that of any legitimate
business. Furthermore, the profits he received may have constituted a
stake in the venture. Nevertheless, Lauria’s conviction was reversed. In
its opinion, however, the court did not rely upon the analysis of the
Falcone court. The Falcone reasoning was that knowledge indicates
only awareness whereas intent means purpose, and the two states of
mind are not necessarily the same. The reasoning of the Lauria court,
on the other hand, was that because the object crime of the “conspiracy”
was only a misdemeanor, the factfinder could not infer the defendant’s
intent from his knowledge of the criminal use of his answering service.
The object crime must be a felony before the court will allow the infer-
ence.”® The conclusion of the Lauria court is remarkable. Why can a

75. 251 Cal. App. 2d 471, 59 Cal. Rptr. 628 (1967).
76. Id. at 477-78, 59 Cal. Rptr. at 632.

77. Id. at 478-79, 59 Cal. Rptr. at 632-33,

78. Id. at 481, 59 Cal. Rptr. at 634.
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factfinder infer intent if the object crime is a felony, but cannot if the
crime is a misdemeanor? The distinction is difficult to understand. The
nature of the defendant’s conduct and state of mind rather than the
category of the ultimate or object crime should determine if a court
may infer intent.” Whether the object crime is a felony or a misde-
meanot is irrelevant in deciding if a defendant is a criminal conspirator.

The opinion in Lauria, however, serves a useful purpose. The
decision demonstrates the difficulty in attempting to explain when intent
properly can be inferred, if the accused both knows of an illegal venture
and provides otherwise lawful goods or services to that venture. The
Supreme Court in Direct Sales confronted an egregious situation in
which the defendant not only had been put on notice by the Government
as to the illegalities involved, but encouraged large purchases for illegal
purposes while ignoring the Government’s warning. The courts have
affirmed convictions in situations similar to Direct Sales only in a few
cases. The one lesson learned from an analysis of these cases is that the
Government must continue to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the
defendant intended to enter into an agreement and that his goal was to
accomplish the agreed upon crime. In some cases, intent properly may
be inferred from knowledge that otherwise lawful goods are being used
in a criminal fashion. Direct Sales is an example. Direct Sales, how-
ever, involved unique facts, and therefore, has limited significance as
precedent.

V1. SpeciFic INTENT AND FEDERAL CRIMES

The state-of-mind requirements discussed so far are applicable to
either federal or state criminal conspiracy cases because the basis of
conspiracy, joint criminal activity through agreement, is common to
both state and federal jurisdictions. An issue of increasing importance,
however, often arises in federal conspiracy cases that is unique to federal
conspiracy law.® The issue is analogous in part to that involved in the
corrupt motives area. The conspirators typically will concede, at least
for purposes of argument, that they had the intent both to enter into an
agreement and to complete an unlawful activity. The conspirators
argue, however, that they did not intend to violate federal law either by
utilizing interstate facilities or by victimizing a federal officer. The
federal courts of appeals reacted differently when confronted with the
argument and split over the question of what state of mind was re-
quired. The Supreme Court, however, broadly resolved the problem

79. But see discussion of Lauria, notes 75-79 and accompanying text supra.

80. It is increasingly important due to the apparent increase in the number of
federal prosecutions which utilize the crime of conspiracy. See note 1 supra. See
also Note, Conspiracy: Statutory Reform Since the Model Penal Code, 75 CoLUM. L.
REv. 1122 n.2 and accompanying text (1975).
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in United States v. Feola.®' To better understand the scope of this de-
cision, a brief review of the case law preceding Feola is necessary.

A. Case Law Prior to Feola

If the crime at issue involves the use of interstate facilities, the
intent questions are: (1) did the defendants know they were violating
federal law; or (2) did they know they were utilizing interstate facilities.
The cases discussing these intent issues most often involve persons
charged with violating the general federal conspiracy statute.? The
object crimes of the conspiracy frequently are alleged violations of the
following substantive statutes: transportation of obscene matter;®?
fraud;®* theft or conversion of goods shipped in interstate commerce;®®
transporting stolen cars in interstate commerce;®¢ transporting or selling
stolen securities in interstate commerce;®? interfering with commerce
by use of extortion (Hobbs Act),®® or aiding this interference.5®

All of the federal statutes have the common requirement that the
crime either must be done in interstate commerce or, at least, must affect
interstate commerce. The argument of a defendant who is charged with
conspiring to violate one of these statutes is obvious. He contends that
the government must show that he intended to violate the substance of
the statute. In particular the government must demonstrate that he
intended either to use interstate facilities or to commit the crime in the
federal jurisdiction. The defendant makes this contention even if the
substantive violation of the statute does not require knowledge about
interstate facilities or an intent to use them. The defense argument is
that the substantive violation and the conspiracy violation do not have
the same state-of-mind requirements; to prove a conspiracy the govern-
ment must establish the defendant’s specific intent to violate federal law.

Most courts of appeals, however, have rejected this position in the
interstate facilities area. The Fourth Circuit decision in United States v.
LeFaivre is typical.?® Convicted of conspiring to violate the Travel
Act,”* the defendant argued on appeal that the Government failed to
prove “actual knowledge of the use of interstate facilities.”*> The court
answered that the interstate commerce provision of the Travel Act only

81. 420 U.S. 671 (1975).

82. 18 US.C. § 371 (1970).

83. 18 U.S.C. § 1465 (1970).

84. 18 U.S.C. § 1343 (1970).

85. 18 US.C. § 659 (1970).

86. 18 U.S.C. § 2312 (1970).

87. 18 U.S.C. §§ 2314, 2315 (1970).
88. 18 U.S.C. § 1951 (1970).

89. 18 U.S.C. § 1952 (1970).

90. 507 F.2d 1288 (4th Cir. 1974), cert. denied, 420 US 1004 (1975).
91. 18 US.C. § 1952 (1970).

92. 507 F.2d at 1298.
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pertains to jurisdiction, and therefore, simply imposes limits on the
jurisdictional reach of congressional intent. In short, the interstate
commerce provision of the Travel Act serves “as a jurisdictional peg on
which to hang the federal prosecution.”®® The court believed that the
conspirators’ plan to use interstate facilities was irrelevant and that a
court should concentrate primarily on the dangers conspiracies create.’*

Although most of the circuits in comparable situations have adopt-
ed the reasoning in LeFaivre,”® the Second Circuit has consistently
rejected it. In United States v. Cangiano®® a conviction for transporting
obscene materials in interstate commerce was challenged on the ground
that the trial judge improperly overruled a defense objection to a jury
instruction. The instruction allowed the jury to convict if it found that
the defendant “knew or could reasonably foresee that the business
would use interstate facilities.”®” On appeal the court reversed the
conviction because it decided that, if a jury must find specific intent, the
proper instruction requires the jury to find that the accused had actual
knowledge of the use of interstate facilities.?® In a specific intent crime
like conspiracy a finding of reasonable foreseeability is insufficient.®®

The issue that prompted the differing viewpoints between the

93. Id. at 1299.

94. Whether or not certain conspirators actually anticipate the use of facilities
in interstate commerce when they plan their unlawful activity of gambling, bribery,
etc., adds absolutely nothing to the dangerousness of their scheme to the public
weal. And it is the danger posed by a conspiracy that justifies prosecution of the
inchoate “crime” of conspiracy even before any substantive offense has been
committed.

id.

95. See, e.g., United States v. Battaglia, 394 F.2d 304 (7th Cir. 1968); Nassif v.
United States, 370 F.2d 147 (8th Cir. 1966); United States v. Roselli, 432 F.2d 879 (9th
Cir. 1970) (the famous Friar's Club fraud).

96. 491 F.2d 906 (2d Cir. 1974).

97. Id. at 910.

98. Id. Although the jury was instructed that it need not find such knowledge,
Cangiano’s conviction was not reversed.

While the charge here was erroneous, it by no means follows that reversible
error was committed. There is a technical difference between defendants who
know that the material they were transporting was actually going to cross state
lines and those who *“could reasonably foresee™ that this was about to occur, but
the distinction has no significance in the facfual setting presented. The defendants
here, if they were engaged in any conspiracy at all, had to actually know that inter-
state commerce was involved. . . . This is not a case in which the defendants
would just have reason to believe that interstate transportation was foreseeable;
this was the precise business they were engaged in. This is not a case in which the
interstate jurisdictional basis depends upon an isolated phone call or a casual trip
across state lines. An examination of the records made available to the jury dis-
closes a huge volume of sales of pornographic materials totalling hundreds of
thousands of dollars to customers identified as living in Massachusetts, Connecticut,
Rhode Island, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, Maryland, Georgia, Nevada, California,
Michigan and Ohio. Neither Cangiano, who was the principal figure in the con-
spiracy, nor Isola, who had custody of the bulk of the records of the business,
could have been unaware of the destination of the cbscene material.

Id. at 910-11.

99. Id. at 909. Since Feola, the Second Circuit has, of course, revised its ruling.

See United States v. Green, 523 F.2d 229 (2d Cir. 1975),
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Second Circuit and the other circuits*®® often arises in federal conspiracy
prosecutions. In many cases the United States Attorney initiates
the prosecution precisely because the nature of the criminal endeavor
transcends particular state boundaries and is national in scope. In these
situations “lesser” defendants often claim that although they may have
understood that a large conspiracy was in operation, they did not know
the conspiracy extended beyond state boundaries. This presents a
difficult question.’®* If the interpretation of the interstate nature of the
statute jis the key, then the Second Circuit was wrong because the
provision is only a jurisdictional element; if however, the traditional
view of conspiracy is accepted, a defendant should not be convicted of
conspiracy if he did not know the conspiracy involved interstate com-
merce. The traditional view requires specific intent, and, if the defend-
ant was not aware of the interstate nature of the conspiracy, he could
not intend to commit an interstate crime.

The problem was exacerbated in cases which involved conspiracies
to assault federal officers. Under federal statute a person may be guilty
of a substantive violation if he assaults a federal officer even if he did
not know and had no reason to know that the victim of the assault was a
federal officer.’°> Particularly if a federal narcotics officer infiltrates a

100. The reader should not infer from this statement that only the Second Circuit
took the broad view as to the interstate nature of the federal charges. There are cases in
which other circuits concurred with the Second Circuit, but it was usually due to a fairly
narrow reading of a particular statute. See, e.g., United States v, Barnes, 383 F.2d 287
(6th Cir. 1967), cert. denied, 389 U.S. 1040 (1968). The decision in that case,
governed by the Travel Act, (compare with LeFaivre, text accompanying note 90 supra)
was characterized recently as holding: .

[Tlhat one who is shown to have violated a local law may not be convicted of

violating the Travel Act, or conspiring to do so, without proof of direct agreement

to illegal interstate transportation or proof of an indirect agreement evidenced by
substantial participation in an unlawful scheme with actual knowledge of illegal
interstate transportation.
It was so characterized by the appellant (and seemingly adopted by the court) in United
States v. Prince, 529 F.2d 1108, 1111 (6th Cir. 1976). See note 143 infra.

101. Such a situation is to be distinguished from that in which the defendant claims
that he did not know about the interstate nature of the conspiracy, but in which the court
does not reach the issue involved in the pure federal intent cases because it holds that
there was sufficient evidence for a jury to find that the defendant, in fact knew, or must
have known of the interstate nature of the operation. See, e.g., United States v.
Colacurcio, 499 F.2d 1401, 1406 (9th Cir. 1974). See also note 95 supra.

102. 18 U.S.C. § 111 (1970) provides as follows:

Whoever forcibly assaults, resists, opposes, impedes, intimidates, or interferes
with any person designated in section 1114 of this title while engaged in or on
account of the performance of his official duties, shall be fined not more than
$5,000 or imprisoned not more than three years, or both.

Whoever, in the commission of any such acts uses a deadly or dangerous
weapon, shall be fined not more than $10,000 or imprisoned not more than ten
years, or both.

See generally United States v. Feola, 420 U.S. 671 (1975).

The rule with regard to lack of knowledge for the substantive offense under § 111
was explained in United States v. Lombardozzi, 335 F.2d 414, 416 (2d Cir, 1964), cert.
denied, 379 U.S. 914 (1964).

Many statutes creating crimes contain such requirements as “knowingly,” “with
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narcotics ring, the conspirators may plan to assault the officer without
having any idea that the officer works for the government.’’® In many
cases assaults arose after the defendants planned to remove the victim
from the operation, either because of greed on their part or because of
fear that the victim might leak information to the authorities.*®* In these
cases the conspirators claimed that they could not have intended to
violate federal law because they did not intend to assault a federal
officer. On the contrary, the strong possibility exists that if the defend-
ant knew the federal agent’s true identity, they would not have contem-
plated assaulting him.*®

Courts that have rejected this defense argument on the intent issue
have done so reluctantly. These courts definitely had “misgivings about
substantive offenses involving the status of the victim where scienter is
not an element.”'%® Nevertheless, these courts rejected the defense
position, relying strongly on the perceived intent of Congress in enacting
the statute that protects federal agents. The Ninth Circuit’s analysis of
the reason for the rejection especially is effective. In United States v.
Fernandez'®" the court recognized that the underlying purpose of Sec-
tion 111 was to protect federal officers from harm. The court decided

knowledge,” “intentionally” and “with intent.” WNo such prerequisite has been

written by Congress into section 111 although it could easily have made knowledge

an essential ingredient. The meager legislative history suggests that in section

111 Congress merely sought to provide a federal forum for the trial of cases

involving various offenses against federal officers in the performance of official

duties. See Ladner v. United States, 358 U.S. 169, 174-177, 79 §. Ct. 209, 212,

213, 3 L.Ed.2d 199 (1958). The court should not by judicial legislation change the

statute by adding, in effect, the words “with knowledge that such person is a

federal officer.”

Specific knowledge of factual elements conferring federal jurisdiction is not required
in analogous situations, see United States v. Tannuzzo, 174 F.2d 177 (2d Cir. 1948),
cert. denied, 338 U.S. 815 (1949) (knowledge of interstate transportation of stolen
property); United States v. Jennings, 471 F.2d 1310 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 411 U.S. 935
(1973) (knowledge of the federal capacity of officials to whom a bribe is proffered).

103. United States v. Fernandez, 497 F.2d 730, 738 (9th Cir. 1974), cert. denied,
420 U.S. 990 (1975).

104. 1In other situations there is a clear intent to assault an individual, and perhaps
even an intent to assault an officer, but the defendants claim there was no intent to
assault a federal officer. Such a claim was made and rejected in United States v. James,
528 F.2d 999 (5th Cir. 1976). Indeed, the defendants there claimed that prior to a
shoot-out the conspirators “were instructed to avoid shooting at federal officers.” Id. at
1011. The court rejected this notion by stating:

The jury did not have to believe their claim; but even if it was true, inferences that

such instructions were later abandoned or superseded could be drawn from the facts

already detailed.
Id. 1t is interesting to consider what the result would have been had the jury believed
the claim and had there been evidence to show that these instructions were no!
abandoned or superseded. Even in such a case it would seem, after Feola, that the
convictions would stand.

105. 497 F.2d at 738, note 103 supra.

106. Id.

107. United States v. Fernandez, 497 F.2d 730 (9th Cir. 1974), cert. denied, 420
U.S. 990 (1975).
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that imposing strict liability on the defendant was the best way to
achieve the purpose.

In retrospect, we cannot conclude that the mere intent of the
legislation was only to provide a federal forum. While it is true
that the Department of Justice sought the legislation so that “[t]he
Federal Government should not be compelled to rely upon the
courts of the States, however respectable and well disposed, for
the protection of its investigative and law-enforcement personnel,”
nevertheless, the underlying purpose of the legislation as originally
conceded by the government was “to protect the individual officers,
as ‘wards’ of the federal government, from personal harm.” In-
deed, the raison d’etre for the statute is the protection of the govern-
ment officer. The essential question is how may the statute serve
to protect the particular agent in the particular circumstances here
before us.'%®

Relying heavily on the rationale ultimately rejected by the Supreme
Court in Feola,'*® the Second Circuit took a contrary position and re-
versed a conviction because of an erroneous jury instruction.!!® The trial
judge instructed the jury that a conspiracy to violate federal law could be
found if the government proved that the defendants “agreed and con-
spired to commit an assault” even without knowing the true identity of
the federal agent.'!! The court considered the jurisdictional arguments
that had been made by the government in the interstate commerce cases,
and again refused to accept them. The court reasoned that in these
conspiracy cases the government must prove specific intent as to every
element of the offense, including the intent to assault a federal officer.
This analysis, coming after considerable criticism of the Second Circuit’s
earlier rulings in the interstate commerce cases,''? laid the foundation
for the Supreme Court’s ultimate resolution of the conflict between the
circuits. The Court granted certiorari, heard arguments, and changed
the name of the Second Circuit case from United States v. Alsondo to
United States v. Feola.''®

108. In retrospect, we cannot conclude that the mere intent of the legislation was
only to provide a federal forum. While it is true that the Department of Justice
sought the legislation so that “[tlhe Federal Government should not be compelled
to rely upon the courts of the States, however respectable and well disposed, for
the protection of its investigative and law-enforcement personnel,” nevertheless, the
underlying purpose of the legislation as originally conceded by the government was
“to protect the individual officers, as ‘wards’ of the federal government, from per-
sonal harm.” Indeed, the raison d'etre for the statute is the protection of the
government officer. The essential question is how may the statute serve to protect
the particular agent in the particular circumstances here before us.
Id. at 737-38. -
109. See Judge Learned Hand’s analysis in United States v. Crimmins, 123 F.2d 271
(24 Cir. 1941); notes 128-29 and accompanying text infra.
110. United States v. Alsondo, 486 F.2d 1339 (2d Cir. 1973).
111. Id. at 1342.
112. See, e.g., M.P.C. § 5.03, Comments 111-12,
113. 420 U.S. 671 (1975).
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B. United States v. Feola

Criticism of the Second Circuit’s federal intent holdings on conspir-
acy increased during the 1960’s and 1970’s.** Although the Second
Circuit Alsondo panel recently had reaffirmed its traditional position on
the statute that protects federal officers, the panel noted the criticism of
the specific intent rationale and offered no argument in support of it,
but reluctantly accepted the controlling precedents.!'® The Supreme
Court’s rejection of the Second Circuit rule in Feola, therefore, is not
surprising.

The Court established a broad rule that applies to both cases
involving crimes in interstate commerce and cases involving federal
assault. In Feola the four co-defendants were convicted of assaulting
and of conspiring to assault a federal officer. As noted by Justice
Blackmun in his majority opinion, the facts revealed “a classic narcotics
‘rip-off’.”''® The defendants sold herocin. Some of the buyers were
undercover agents for the Bureau of Narcotics and Dangerous Drugs.
The plan of the defendants involved either cheating the buyers (substi-
tuting sugar in place of heroin) or taking the money from them.
“Instead of enjoying the rich benefits of successful swindle,”*'" Feola
and his partners were arrested when one of the agents alertly drew his
gun and prevented the assault upon another agent. The Court began
the discussion of the intent issue by recognizing that the Government’s
argument was a “plea for symmetry.” The government assumed that
knowledge of the official position of the victim was not a requirement
for a substantive violation of the statute, hence a knowledge requirement
should not exist for the conspiracy conviction either. Agreeing with
“the practical unanimity of the courts of appeals,”*® the Court found
that Congress, in enacting the provision, fully intended not to require
knowledge of the victim’s status for a substantive conviction. The
limitation of the statute to assaults on federal officers was only a
jurisdictional restriction.’'® The Supreme Court reasoned that the ulti-
mate objective of the measure was to protect federal officers. Adopting
a position similar to the Fernandez court, Justice Blackmun concluded
that the federal provision only required

[A]ln intent to assault, not an intent to assault a federal officer.
A contrary conclusion would give insufficient protection to the
agent enforcing an unpopular law, and none to the agent acting
under cover.!2?

114. See note 112 supra.

115. 420 U.S. at 676.

116. Id. at 674.

117. Id. at 675.

118, Id. at 677.

119. Id. at 677 n.12 and cases cited therein.
120, 1Id. at 684.
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The only limitation the Court made on the intent holding pertained
to the usual defense in any intent crime. A defendant could argue that
through mistake he simply did not possess the necessary state of mind
and did not intend to assault anyone. The mistake typically concerns
the nature or quality of the force directed at the defendant or his
property.’** The Court emphasized that the statute requires an unlaw-
ful objective and “an honest mistake of fact would not be consistent
with criminal intent.”?22

Justice Stewart and Justice Douglas dissented from the broad
holding as to section 111. They disputed the claim that Congress
intended not to have knowledge as a requirement for a substantive
violation of the statute.’*® Justice Stewart’s conclusion, after noting the
“scant” legislative history, was that the statute was one “requiring proof
of scienter.”'** In any event, if some doubt existed about the intent of
Congress, “ambiguity concerning the ambit of criminal statutes should
be resolved in favor of lenity.”*2® Because the dissenters would require
evidence of the defendant’s knowledge about the victim’s position before
sustaining a conviction on the substantive crime, they believed “a for-
tiori that there can be no criminal conspiracy to violate the statute in the
absence of at least equivalent knowledge.”2®

Feola had little precedent in his favor in arguing against his
substantive conviction; he even had less supportive authority for his
argument against the conspiracy conviction. Few cases outside the
Second Circuit supported his contention, and the best Supreme Court
precedent available was the notation that the state-of-mind requirement
for the conspiracy conviction could not be less than that required for the
substantive offense.’?” The chief argument the defense utilized was
that the reasoning that prompted the Second Circuit to adopt its “anti-

121. Id. at 686.

122. Id. ’

123. In addition to the legislative intent problem, Justice Stewart was most concerned
that this issue, clearly basic to the holding of the case was

not . . . addressed in either the brief or oral arguments. The parties have merely

assumed the answer to the question, and directed their attention to the separate

question whether scienter is an element of conspiring to violate § 111. , . . TT]his
conspicuous disregard of the most basic principle of our adversary system of justice
seems to me indefensible.

Id. at 697.

124. Id. at 699. See also id. at 70S.

125. Id. at 712, quoting Rewis v. United States, 401 U.S. 808, 812 (1971).

126. Id. at 713.

127. Ingram v. United States, 360 U.S. 672, 678 (1959). In fact, there were some
Supreme Court cases which seem to cut against Feola’s position, cases which Justice
Blackmun cited. See, e.g., United States v. Freed, 401 U.S. 601, 614-16 (1971), where
the Court held that actual knowledge that hand grenades were unregistered was not an
element of the substantive offense of possession of, and conspiracy to possess, hand
grenades under 26 U.S.C. § 5861(d) (Supp. V, 1964). As stated in Feola, “we declined
[in Freed] to require a greater degree of intent for conspiratorial responsibility than for
responsibility for the underlying substantive offense.” 420 U.S. at 688.
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federal” intent rule in conspiracy cases was sound, and that the Supreme
Court should adopt the rationale as a matter of policy. In formulating
this argument the defense based its case almost entirely on Learned
Hand’s famous opinion in United States v. Crimmins.**®

In Crimmins Judge Hand, in essence, decided that although the
federal statute did not require knowledge about the use of interstate
facilities for a substantive conviction under the provision, knowledge
became a necessary element of proof for a conviction for conspiracy to
violate the statute.’®® In considering state-of-mind requirements Judge
Hand attempted to isolate the difference between a substantive crime
and a conspiracy to commit that crime. He attempted to highlight the
distinction with his oft-quoted hypothetical of a traffic light violation:

While one may, for instance, be guilty of running past a traffic
light of whose existence one is ignorant, one cannot be guilty of
conspiring to run past such a light, for one cannot agree to run past
a light unless one supposes that there is a light to run past.'*®

The Supreme Court in Feola did not accept Learned Hand’s
reasoning. The Court initially noted that few courts outside the Second
Circuit had adopted the approach of requiring a “higher” mens rea for
the conspiracy charge than for the substantive offense.’®* The Court
described the Hand analogy in Crimmins as closely analogous to the
doctrine first presented in the early New York case of People v. Powell
“to the effect that a conspiracy, to be criminal, must be animated by a
corrupt motive or a motive to do wrong.”'** Assuming, arguendo, that
the Powell doctrine made sense, the Court emphasized that it did not
apply in a Crimmins situation in which the defendant certainly intended
to steal securities.’®® If the doctrine did not apply in Crimmins, it
certainly was not appropriate for Feola. The Court held that the
defendant could not have commenced his criminal conduct without
intending the forbidden result. The traffic light analogy, the Court
believed, was inapt because “[o]lne may run a traffic light ‘of whose
existence one is ignorant,’ but assaulting another ‘of whose existence one
is ignorant,’ probably would require unearthly intervention.”’** As
long as the object federal crime requires a mens rea, the federal conspir-
acy provision will require the same state of mind but no more. In
this case the defendant intended the assault and that intent was sufficient
to supply the required mens rea element for the conspiracy.

128. 123 F.2d 271 (2d Cir. 1941).

129. United States v. Alsondo, 486 F.2d 1339, 1342 (2d Cir. 1973), stating the
holding in Crimmins.

130. 123 F.2d at 273,

131. 420 U.S. at 689.

132, Id. at 691. See text accompanying notes 32-43 supra.

133. 420 U.S. at 691.

134. 1Id. at 692,
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The Court further noted that Crimmins could only apply if some-
thing distinct existed in conspiracy law, as opposed to general criminal
law, that necessitated a stricter state-of-mind requirement.'®® The Court
identified “two independent values served by the law of conspiracy.”13¢
The first was “protection of society from the dangers of concerted
criminal activity.”*®? As to this purpose of conspiracy law, the Court
concluded that the issue of whether the defendants understood that
their actions violated federal law was irrelevant. Because the defendant
could not present justifications for the imposition of an anti-federal
knowledge requirement that would contribute to the first recognized
value of conspiracy law, the Court would not impose the requirement.
Moreover, the Court observed that imposing an anti-federal requirement
“would serve only to make it more difficult to obtain convictions on
charges of conspiracy, a policy with no apparent purpose.”**® The
second independent value served by a conspiracy law is that as an
inchoate crime, it permits society to terminate criminal activity in its
nascent stage. The Court, therefore, could not appreciate a need for
creating a stricter state-of-mind requirement for conspiracy than that
needed for the substantive offense. In the Court’s view the conspiracy
does not become less blameworthy or less dangerous if the participants
are unaware of the substantive laws they are violating.'*®* Imposing an
anti-federal scienter requirement would only present the Government
with additional difficulties in establishing a conspiracy, but without
serving any useful social purpose.!*?

The inapplicability of the Crimmins rationale to a conspiracy to
assault a federal officer'*! and the lack of any policy served by requiring
a stricter mens rea for the conspiracy conviction caused the Court to
reverse the Alsondo holding. Moreover, the Court applied a broad

135. The Court was not moved at all by Judge Hand’s analogy in Crimmins. Indeed,
in one footnote the Court adopted the government’s refutation of the Crimmins rationale.

The Government rather effectively exposes the fallacy of the Crimmins traffic
light analogy by recasting it in terms of a jurisdictional element. The suggested
example is a traffic light on an Indian reservation. Surely, one may conspire with
others to disobey the light but be ignorant of the fact that it-is on the reservation.
As applied to a jurisdictional element of this kind the formulation makes little
sense.

Id. at 690 n.24. See also Nassif v. United States, 370 F.2d 147, 153 n.9 (8th Cir. 1966),
in which the court added an “explanatory hypotheses” to the Hand analogy:

If one agrees to drive through a downtown section of a city at 60 mph without
stopping, one could be guilty of conspiring to run past a traffic light, even though
ignorant of such light, because one could reasonably suppose that there is such a
light to run past.

136. 420 U.S. at 693.

137. Id.

138. Id. at 693-94.

139. Id. at 694.

140. Id.

141. That is, a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371 (1970) (general conspiracy statute) with
the object of that conspiracy being a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 111 (1970).
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ruling to those cases where the anti-federal intent issue might arise.
Justice Blackmun concluded his opinion by holding that
[Where knowledge of the facts giving rise to federal jurisdiction is
not necessary for conviction of a substantive offense embodying a
mens rea requirement, such knowledge is equally irrelevant to
questions of responsibility for conspiracy to commit that offense.!?
The holding does not apply to those infrequent occasions in which the
extent of the conspirator’s knowledge is crucial to establish federal
jurisdiction.’*® The plain meaning of this conclusion, however, is that
if at any time a substantive statute has as an element of proof a federal
jurisdictional factor,'** and the substantive statute does not require the

142. 420 U.S. at 696.

143. 'This situation, as Justice Blackmun pointed out, id. at 695, relates to the kinds
of cases where the “knowledge of the parties is relevant to the same issue and to the
same extent as it may be for the conviction of the substantive offense.” Presumably he
was referring to a case such as Ingram v. United States, 360 U.S. 672 (1959), where the
defendants were “accused of conspiring to commit . . . the willful evasion of federal
taxes, an offense which, even presuming knowledge of the tax law, obviously cannot be
committed in the absence of knowledge of [sic] willfulness.” Id. at 678. Thus, where
the substantive offense requires knowledge and willfulness, obviously the conspiracy
must also require such a state of mind.

The Ninth Circuit recently had occasion to apply Feola to a conspiracy situation in
which the underlying offense did seemingly require some knowledge., 18 U.S.C. § 3
{1970) provides:

Whoever, knowing that an offense against the United States has been com-
mitted, receives, relieves, comforts or assists the offender in order to hinder or
prevent his apprehension, trial or punishment, is an accessory after the fact. .

The defendants assisted in the escape of a federal prisoner. They argued that they could
not be guilty of either the substantive offense or the conspiracy offense because they
believed the escapee was a state and not a federal prisoner. Even though the statute
speaks in terms of “knowing that an offense against the United States has been
committed,” the court rejected this argument in United States v. Hobson, 519 F.2d 765
(9th Cir. 1975). Adopting the position that the federal aspect of the crime was
jurisdictional only, the court found that one who intends to aid escape from the
authorities cannot escape punishment because of a mistake concerning the nature of the
pursuers. Paraphrasing Feola, the court said “‘[ijn a case of this kind the [defendants
take their escapee] as [they find him].”” Id. at 770.

144. An example is the presence of a federal officer or the use of interstate
commerce. The only caveat that should be listed to the “any time” language results
from a recent case raising the knowledge requirement under the Travel Act, 18 U.S.C. §
1952(b) (1970). In United States v. Prince, 529 F.2d 1108 (6th Cir. 1976), the Sixth
Circuit refused to reverse its earlier holding that the requirement of interstate activity for
conviction under the Travel Act was not merely a “jurisdictional peg,” even after Feola.
The Court reasoned as follows:

. . . We are not persuaded, however, that Feola requires us to overrule
Barnes. The Travel Act does not make it a federal offense to engage in prostitu-
tion, an activity which is illegal under State law. It provides an additional string
to the law enforcement bow, however, by providing that “[wlhoever travels in
interstate or foreign commerce or uses any facility in interstate or foreign com-
merce . . . with intent . . .” to engage in enumerated types of unlawful activity
including prostitution may be punished thereunder. 18 US.C. § 1952(a) (em-
phasis added). In dealing with this Act we stated in United States v. Gebhart, 441
F.2d 1261 (6th Cir.), cert. denied, 404 U.S. 855, 92 S. Ct. 97, 30 L.Ed. 2d 96
(1971) that—

To successfully prosecute one under the above statutory provision, the

United States must prove the following elements; (1) that the accused volun-

tarily traveled in interstate commerce or used the facilities of interstate com-
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defendants’ awareness of this fact, the conspiracy statute will not recjuire
it either,1#°

Although the Court’s decision about the state-of-mind requirement
for the substantive crime is troublesome—and Justice Stewart under-
scores. the problems with this portion of the opinion—the holding
concerning the state of mind for the conspiracy is sound. Crimmins—
contrary to Justice Blackmun’s view—is also sound, but only if the
defendants did not intend anything unlawful. In other cases, however,
the Court is correct because the Second Circuit appeared to be applying
the corrupt motives doctrine to Judge Hand’s innocuous traffic light
analogy. If the parties clearly have demonstrated an intent to violate
the law, the issue is not, for purposes of the conspiracy charge, whether
they believe they were violating state or federal law. If they intended
to violate some law, as in both Crimmins and Feola, the conspirators’
knowledge about which law they were breaking is irrelevant.4*

merce; (2) that he attempted to or did in fact promote, manage, establish,
carry on or facilitate the promotion, management; establishment, or carrying
on of any one of certain statutorily defined activities; and (3) that the accused
formed a specific intent to promote, manage, establish, carry on or facilitate
one of the prohibited activities. 441 F.2d at 1263. '

We believe the language of Section 1952 compels this conclusion. In Feola the

Supreme Court was construing a statute which made the performance of an act a

federal offense without any requirement of intent separate from that which led to

the act itself (the assault of another person). Its federal character depended
upon the identity of the victim, whether known or unknown to the assailant. On
the other hand, the Travel Act only reaches those who engage in interstate ac-

tivities with intent to perform other illegal acts. Thus there is a requirement of a

separate intent related to the use of interstate facilities which is different from the

intent required to commit the underlying State offense. So far as this record shows
the defendant Prince was nothing more than the madam of a house of prostitution

in West Virginia. The Travel Act is not written so broadly as to subject such a

person to federal prosecution.

Id. at 1111-12. This reasoning as to the Travel Act makes sense and, moreover, may be
proper even after the Supreme Court’s holding in Feola. Unlike the other statutes
discussed previously, see notes 82-89 supra, the Travel Act does refer to violation of state
law and also refers to use of interstate facilities to achieve that violation. With this
particular Ianguage perhaps the Prince court was well advised to create an “exception” to
the broad Feola rationale. Cf. United States v. LeFaivre, 507 F.2d 1288 (4th Cir.),
cert. denied, 420 U.S. 1004 (1974), discussed in text accompanying note 90 supra.

145, At a recent conference on criminal conspiracy in Chicago sponsored by the
Illinois Institute for Continuing Legal Education a number of lecturers on criminal
conspiracy were asked whether Feola effectively eliminates the anti-federal intent claim
in every major area where it previously had been raised or could be raised. The answer
was unanimous: the claim had been eliminated by the Supreme Court.

146. Cf. United States v. Muncy, 526 F.2d 1261 (5th Cir. 1976). The defendant
there was charged with a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2315 (1970), receiving or selling
goods “which are a part of, or which constitute interstate . . . commerce, knowing the
same to have been stolen. . . .” He conceded that he knew the goods were stolen, but
the Government had not proved that he had “knowledge that the stolen property had
moved in interstate commerce.” Id. at 1263-64. Citing Feola and Ingram, the court
refused to consider the argument. The court stated that “[i]nterstate transportation is a
jurisdictional element of the statute . . . the only knowledge required is that the property
was stolen.” Id. at 1264. See the similar holding in United States v. Newsom, 531 F.2d
979 (10th Cir. 1976). The court there noted:

Although the Supreme Court was dealing (in Feola): with a conspiracy to
violate section 111 as opposed to section 2314 we feel that reasoning of the Court
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VII. CONCLUSION

The very heart of the crime of conspiracy is the agreement. To
reach an agreement that constitutes criminal behavior, the parties must
intend to agree and intend to achieve the same object. This article has
explored the problems, both practical and theoretical, that result when
applying this seemingly simple truism of criminal law. Proving intent is
not easy, particularly if: (1) the defendant denies he had the intent;
(2) the defendant is an otherwise honest business person; or (3) the
courts require a different sort of intent than that required for the
substantive offense.’*™ The intent issue of conspiracy law is so very
crucial that even this brief treatment of the subject may aid those who
study the crime, and more importantly, assist those who prosecute or
defend persons charged with criminal conspiracy.

is applicable to this case as well. In both statutes the federal element of the of-
fense is jurisdictional and the criminal intent, whether it be to assault someone or
to pass forged securities, exists independently. We therefore hold that knowledge
of the use of interstate facilities is not required for a conviction of conspiracy to
violate section 2314.
Id. at 982,
147. As in the early anti-federal cases. See notes 127-29 and accompanying text
supra.



